
New York State Department of Labor (NYSDOL) Teacher Residency Program (TRP) Request for 
Applications (RFA) Questions and Answers (Q&A) 

(Updated 11-18-2022.  New questions and answers are added frequently and indicated below after each 
revision date.) The RFA for the TRP program is available on NYSDOL’s Funding Opportunities webpage. 

Q #1) Are charter schools/Charter Management Organizations (CMOs – Education Management 
Organizations) eligible to apply for the Teacher Residency grant? 

A #1)  No, charter schools or CMOs are not eligible to apply. Eligible applicants include a New 
York State (NYS) public school district, a consortium of NYS public school districts, a NYS Board 
of Cooperative Educational Services (BOCES), a consortium of NYS BOCES, or any combination of 
these entities. If applying as a consortia, one NYS public school district or NYS BOCES in the 
consortia must serve as the lead fiscal agent/Applicant and apply for this opportunity on behalf 
of the consortia.   

Q #2) We are seeking clarification with regard to eligible applicants for the teacher residency 
RFA.  Two questions: First, does a public school district include the NYC school district? Second, if that 
is the case, is the applicant the NYC DOE or could it be a Community School District within the NYC 
public school system?   

A #2) Per Section II.A. of the TRP Request for Applications (RFA), the New York City (NYC) 
Department of Education (DOE) is considered one public school district/Applicant that would 
apply on behalf of one or more Community School Districts within the public school system.  

Q #3) Can the Resident be a teachers assistance/aid working towards their teaching certification 
and/masters? 

A #3) Eligible participants for the TRP RFA are residents that have been accepted as graduate 
level candidates pursuing a master’s degree and/or NYS K-12 teaching certification.  However, 
they must also obtain at least 1,000 hours of clinical experience, enabling them to experience 
the full range of a teacher’s annual responsibilities.  Therefore, hours worked as a teachers’ 
assistant or aid does not qualify as resident clinical experience.  

Q #4) What does “district/BOCES-based teacher educator who meet certain requirements" mean in 
regards to the second bullet in Section I.A. of the TRP RFA?  

A #4) This means a certified teacher educator who is the teacher of record and who has official 
responsibility for a classroom.   

Q #5) Is there any flexibility allowed in the residency program requirement that states the residency 
must “Require residency graduates to commit to teaching within their school district for at least two 
(2) years after the completion of their residency”?  

A #5) Once the residency is complete, it will be up to the school district/BOCES to determine 
whether the resident is a good fit to continue teaching in the district for the two (2) year period.  

Q #6) For the 1,000 hours, does it have to be spread over 2 years or can one year be that other be the 
coursework? 
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A #6) The minimum of 1,000 hours of clinical experience can be completed at any time during 
the two (2) year residency.   

Q #7) In question 1.2 in Section V.B.2, what does "collective bargaining units to ensure residents are 
hired" mean?  

 A #7) A collective bargaining unit is a group of two or more employees who share common 
interests in their terms and conditions of employment and who are represented by a union for 
the purpose of bargaining over terms and conditions of employment.  This was just an example 
of a potential collaboration, but is not required. 

Q #8) Can you please confirm that the residency is only open to people pursuing their Master’s 
degree, or is it also open to people pursuing a Bachelor’s degree with teacher certification?  

A #8)  Eligible participants for the TRP are residents that have been accepted as graduate level 
candidates pursuing a master’s degree and/or NYS teaching certification. The residency is only 
open to graduate level candidates, and is not open to those pursuing a Bachelor's degree with 
teacher certification.   

Q #9) Can the resident be a current (certified) teacher in the applicant district who is pursuing their 
Master’s? 

A #9)  Yes, a resident may be a current teacher already working in the Applicant district who is 
pursuing their master’s.  However, this individual should not be the teacher of record in the 
classroom for the duration of the residency. 

Q #10) If someone is already enrolled in a Master’s program, can they be a resident for the remainder 
of the time needed to obtain their Master’s? 

A #10) Yes, someone already enrolled in a master’s program may be a resident for the 
remainder of time needed to obtain their degree.  However, they must meet the requirements 
of the RFA, which are that the residency is two (2) academic years in length and includes at least 
1,000 hours of clinical experiences.  This individual should also not be the teacher of record in 
the classroom for the duration of the residency. 

Q #11)  Since this is only a two-year program and most people take two years to get their Master’s, 
does that mean it is not open to potential residents after the start of the contract period (7/1/23)?  

A #11)  A potential resident may join the program following the start of the contract period, but 
must complete their degree and at least 1,000 hours of clinical experiences within the two (2) 
academic year contract period.  This would also likely require a contract modification. 

Q #12)  Does the resident have to be a full-time student?  

A #12) No, the resident is not required to be a full-time student.  However, they must complete 
their degree and the residency within the established two (2) year timeframe.  

Q #13) Can we turn an applicant for the residency down?  Is there guidance on the selection process if 
there are more candidates than residency openings?  

A #13) The Applicant and partnering IHE(s) are responsible for recruiting teacher residents as 
defined in the RFA. NYSDOL has no written guidance on the selection process.   



Q # 14) Do we have to hire the resident upon completion of their degree?  What if we don’t have an 
opening or don’t want to hire that individual? 

A #14) The intent of the program is that the resident will work as a teacher of record for at least 
two (2) years following the residency.  Therefore the Applicant should ensure there are teaching 
positions available prior to submitting an application. 

If the Applicant chooses not to hire the individual at the end of the residency, that is at the 
discretion of the Applicant.   

Q #15) If my district is a Teachers of Tomorrow grantee through NYSED, can we also be a Teacher 
Residency Program contractor? 

A#15)  Yes, if a district is a Teachers of Tomorrow (TOT) grantee, it can also be a TRP Contractor.  
However, please note that funds awarded from the TOT grant cannot be used to meet any 
portion of the match requirement under the TRP. 

Q #16)  Does the Empire State Teacher Residency Program extend to school counselors or is it only for 
teachers?  

A #16) The purpose of the TRP is to partially or fully fund master’s degree or teacher 
certification programs for graduate-level K-12 teacher candidates who complete a two-year 
residency program within a public NYS school district or BOCES program.  Therefore, if the 
school counselor intends to gain K-12 teaching certification, they can participate as a resident. 

Q #17) Under the Residency program requirements, it states that the residency must include a 
certified district/BOCES-based teacher who has official responsibilities for the class during the 
residency placement(s)-does this mean that the Resident cannot be the lead teacher in the class or 
can they be? For example, if the Resident teacher already has their NYS Teaching Certificate but is 
working on their masters through this program, they would be permitted to be in the classroom on 
their own, with an additional BOCES teacher as a mentor. But the Resident would really be the person 
in the classroom who has official responsibilities for the classroom and would be participating in 
activities such as participating in annual special education meetings with parents.  

A #17) No, the resident cannot be the lead teacher in the class even if they already have their 
NYS Teaching Certificate and are working on their master’s.  

Q #18) Also under the Residency program requirements, its states that the residency graduates 
commit to teaching within their school district for at least two years after the completion of their 
residency. Two questions here, what would hold them to this if we already paid for their masters and 
two, what if the person was not a good fit for our program….would we be required to keep 
employed? 

A #18) Residents participating in the residency are required to teach in the school district/BOCES 
for two (2) years following completion of the master’s program and this should be reiterated 
during the recruitment phase of the program. 

Whether the resident is a good fit for the program is to be decided by the Applicant.  If the 
Applicant determines the resident to not be a good fit, the Applicant is not required to keep 
them employed. 



Q #19) Regarding the requirement of “residency graduates to commit to teaching within their school 
district for at least two (2) years after the completion of their residency”- If BOCES is applying as the 
lead of a consortium, will the residents have to be hired by the BOCES for two years or could they be 
hired by the district they are placed in or another component school district? 

A #19) If a BOCES is the lead Applicant in a consortium, it is up to the BOCES to determine where 
the resident(s) will be placed, whether that be at the BOCES or within a school district. 

Q #20) Does an IHE partner have to already have an approved-residency program in place to apply? 
For example, our proposed IHE is planning on applying for residency program approval in January 
2023 for 23-24, but is not anticipating being approved prior to the submission deadline. Would that 
prohibit us from being considered? 

A #20) No, an IHE partner does not need to have an approved residency program in place for its 
partner school district(s) and/or BOCES to apply for this program.  However, the contractor must 
provide documentation that the residency program is approved before contract reimbursement 
can take place. 

Q #21) Do we know if the salary the district is paying to an employed teacher without initial 
certification counts towards (or as) the matching funds?    

A #21) Yes. Per Section II.C. of the TRP RFA, matching funds may be actual cash funds supporting 
a portion of allowable TRP budget costs, which includes resident wages and fringe costs. 
However, this individual should not be the teacher of record in the classroom for the duration of 
the residency. 

Q #22) If the resident is currently a teacher in our district (and is pursuing their master’s degree in 
teaching), can we use the wages we are paying them as the required matching funds?  

A #22) Yes, if a resident is a current teacher in the district, their wages can be used as matching 
cash funds and as allowable budget costs.  Per Section II.C., “Matching funds may be actual cash 
funds supporting a portion of allowable TRP budget costs (Section II.B.1.)…” 

Q #23) In regards to tuition, if a district is supporting tuition assistance, can the resident pay up front, 
then they get reimbursed, then a rolling fund for each semester essentially? 

A #23) Per Section VI.B. of the RFA, grant funds will be released to Contractors on a cost 
reimbursement basis. Every effort must be made for a resident to not pay up-front costs, 
including tuition. The grantee may work with the Institutions of Higher Education (IHE(s)) to 
defer tuition payments. If the resident has already paid associated allowable program costs or is 
required to pay these costs up-front, the grantee will need to provide justification to NYSDOL 
during contract negotiations. 

Q #24) How often can we request reimbursement and how long will it take to receive the funds after 
we request them?  

A #24) Per Section VI.B. of the RFA, a grantee must first pay for incurred expenses and then 
submit a voucher to NYSDOL for reimbursement. Vouchers must be submitted to NYSDOL on the 
prescribed forms before payment is made. For cost reimbursements to be approved, certain 
records must be kept, and specific documents submitted. Successful Applicants must provide 
documentation that the service was provided. This will include proof of completion at the end of 
each semester for each funded resident.  



Reimbursement is provided on a quarterly basis. If the resident does not complete the required 
components by the end of the contract period, the final reimbursement will be pro-rated to 
bring total reimbursement for that resident in line with the actual number of semesters 
completed.  

Q #25) How can we know at this point how the $30,000 per resident will be spent if we don’t know 
what their individual situations are? For example, one resident might have a full scholarship and we 
would like to use the funds to pay them a stipend or other costs while another resident may not have 
any scholarships available, and we would like to use the funds to cover their tuition.  

A #25) During application submission, Applicants will base the Detailed Budget Attachment 
(DBA)  on anticipated resident need(s), based on discussions with the partnering IHE(s) 
regarding the discounted tuition rates that will be made available for this program.  However, if 
during contract development negotiations it is determined that a recruited resident will receive 
scholarships to further reduce their tuition, this scholarship amount no longer needed for tuition 
can be moved to other allowable costs. Thus, Applicants will have the opportunity to utilize all 
allowable TRP budget categories and can address each individual resident’s situation.   

Please note that resident wages and fringe benefits for time spent in the required 1,000 hours of 
clinical experience are required to be paid to the residents and are allowable contract costs, 
with stipends also allowable but intended only for additional needs not met by wages and fringe 
benefits (i.e., childcare or transportation costs).  Also note that the dollar amount of tuition 
eliminated by tuition discounts or scholarships count towards the In-Kind match category, 
helping to fulfill the 100% cash and In-kind match requirement per resident. 

Q #26) Will budget modifications be allowable, and if so, what is the process? 

A #26) Yes, budget modifications are allowable following award and during contract 
development.  Contractors wishing to make a budget modification will work with their Contract 
Manager to do so. 

Q #27) Is the $30,000 limit per resident for 1 year of the contract period (30K per year) or for the full 
2-year contract period (15K per year)? 

A #27) The $30,000 contract-funded limit per resident is for the two-year contract period.  


